
1 
 

Infrastructure Sales Tax Citizens Oversight Committee 
Meeting Minutes  
August 15, 2024 

 
Opening 
 
The meeting was brought to order at 5:30 pm by Allen Morrell, Committee Chairperson.  
 
Board Attendees 

 
Committee Members in attendance: 
Andre-Rousseau Pegues – In Person 
Leland Taylor – In Person  
George Nicolopoulos – In Person  
Allen Morrell – In Person 
 
Committee Members in attendance virtually:  
Richard Hagenbach  

 
Committee Members not in attendance: 

 Jack May 
 Cynthia Warren 
 
Manatee County representatives: 
Evan Pilachowski, Deputy County Administrator – In Person  
Victor Ortiz, Deputy Director, Financial Management – In Person 
Candi Cruz, Budget Division Manager - CIP, Financial Management – In Person 
Jessica Pollard – Senior Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management - In Person 
Rebekah Rafferty – Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management – Virtually 
Meghan Thorpe - Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management – Virtually  
 
Citizens from the public present: 
None  

 
Introduction 
 

Candi Cruz introduced herself and explained that Sheila McLean was out of town on family 
business. Ms. Cruz explained that this is the mid-year meeting with the committee. This 
meeting is to update the committee on our plans for the FY25-FY29 Capital Improvement Plan 
and the Infrastructure Sales Tax. Ms. Cruz than proceeded to explain that the previous 



2 
 

meeting minutes needed to be voted on. George Nikolopoulos asked if there had been any 
amendments to the meeting minutes after the initial email was sent out on April 15, 2024, with 
the meeting minutes attached? Ms. Cruz explained there had not been any amendments.  
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
Allen Morrell, Chairperson, asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the April 4, 2024, 
meeting. George Nicolopoulos made the motion to approve the meeting minutes which was 
then seconded by Andre-Rousseau Pegues. Unanimous by all – passes.   
 

 
Presentation of Summary of Funds, Changes and FY24-28 Tentative Budget 

 
Candi Cruz commenced with a PowerPoint presentation for the Citizens Oversight Committee. 
Starting with the goals of the Citizens Oversight Committee, Ms. Cruz presented the Summary 
of Changes to Category percentages as of July 31,2024. She went on to explain that the 
category percentages had not changed however as of Tuesday, August 13, 2024, a new 
subcategory, and percentage of 2.9% in Transportation had been added for Stormwater giving 
them approximately $14 million over the remainder of the life of the tax. The percentage was 
reduced from 911 and Public Safety Technology Upgrades subcategory in the Public Safety 
and Law Enforcement category because most of those items seemed to be cloud based which 
the Clerk’s Office deemed ineligible.  
 
Ms. Cruz went on to the Summary of Funds Received and Expended as of July 31, 2024, 
explaining that we started out the year with $104 million, with $34 million in revenues to date, 
$15 million in expenditures for an ending balance of $123 million. Mr. Nicolopoulos asked what 
was budgeted for year to date? Ms. Cruz explained for FY24 we adopted $40.7 million. She 
also explained that the tax comes in two months in arrears, that these numbers are through 
July 31, 2024, and we have an annual true up at the end of the fiscal year. Ms. Cruz explained 
that even when we meet again in November those will not be audited numbers. Richard 
Hagenbach asked how quickly do the revenues show up in the revenue column, in other words 
if I bought something July 25th, does that show up in July? Ms. Cruz explained that the state 
reconciles the tax at the end of the month, then it’s two months before it comes to the county.  
 
Moving to the summary of Infrastructure Sales Tax changes, Candi Cruz explained that every 
time the committee meets, we update them on all the changes that have taken place since the 
last meeting. Last meeting we were at $494 million and as of July 31, 2024, we are at $496 
million. Mr. Hagenbach asked is this since the inception of the IST and Ms. Cruz answered 
yes it was.  
 
After the summary of changes was the FY24 amended as of July 31, 2024. Ms. Cruz explained 
that the FY24 adopted budget for IST was $46 million and the FY24 Amended is now $57 
million with a total project expense budget of $242 million. She also explained that about $4 
million was left in the 911 and Public Safety Technology Upgrades subcategory to cover the 
projects and the debt owed in that subcategory and next meeting you will see that change. 



3 
 

Richard Hagenbach asked is it his understanding that we have roughly $495 million however 
only have $242 million budgeted expenses? Candi explained that the $495 million is the whole 
of Project and Equipment (P&E) list. Ms. Cruz also went into depth about the colors on the 
P&E list, the projects on the list and the money set aside for each category and subcategory. 
George Nikolopoulos said so basically half a billion in projects over the life of the tax, is that 
correct and Evan Pilachowski answered yes.  
 
Next was the five-year plan for the FY25-29 tentative IST. Ms. Cruz stated the amounts listed 
are what are planned in each category and subcategory for each fiscal year. She also 
explained that for the moment the IST total over the next five years is $342 million. Ms. Cruz 
elaborated on the graph showing 88.12% in Transportation – Roads, 7.06% Public Safety – 
Animal Services & Sheltering, 3.23% in Transportation – Intersections and 1.59% in 
Transportation – Sidewalks. George Nikolopoulos said that those percentages do not match 
the percentages that each category and subcategory are to get so are these percentages 
more of a guideline over the life of the tax? She explained that the percentages that allotted 
to the category and subcategories are set and cannot be changed and the percentages in the 
graph are just for this fiscal year and this is how the tax is broken down for the fiscal year. Ms. 
Cruz stated that the number of projects on the tentative list are projects that are in motion. 
Over the life of the IST, we are projecting $672.9 million dollars. Mr. Nikolopoulos asked when 
will IST sunset again, whereas Ms. Cruz answered with December 31, 2031, and the 
committee sunsets in 2032. George Nikolopoulos asked who has influence on if it will be 
renewed. Jessica Pollard explained that the committee members past and present do. Leland 
Taylor explained the process for a referendum and that he would rather have tourist pay the 
bulk of the tax than property taxes or other taxes in the county being raised. Ms. Cruz explained 
that people would need to lobby for it and that is where the committee members would be the 
most beneficial. George Nikolopoulos asked what are the plans for excess capital? Leland 
asked don’t you adjust the list every year? Ms. Cruz explained yes. Leland went on to explain 
to George that there is always need for funding for projects. Ms. Cruz went on to elaborate 
that some subcategories do not have much band width left to spend in. George said, so there 
are enough projects to fund. To which Candi Cruz answered yes. Evan Pilchowski stated that 
there are far more needs than we can possibly fund. Richard Hagenbach asked if a department 
or subcategory hasn’t used their whole percentage amount, do we ask them to submit 
projects? Mr. Pilachowski explained that the bigger picture is making sure that the departments 
are bringing their projects forward on a timely basis. Candi Cruz also stated that we do monitor 
the list very closely and try to utilize IST money first if that is where the need is.  
 
Candi Cruz addressed the next meeting date recommendation of November 15, 2024. All 
members agreed upon the date. 
 
Public Comments 
None 
 
 

 



4 
 

 
Action Items for Next Meeting: 
 

• Schedule the next meeting for Citizens Oversight Committee members for 

November 14, 2024. Annual report will be submitted and reviewed for 

approval. 
 
Adjournment 
 
Allen Morrell, Chairperson, asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 6:09pm. The 
motion was made by Andre-Rousseau Pegues and a seconded by Leland Tayor. 
Unanimous by all – passes.  
 
The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, November 14, 2024, at 5:30 pm in Conference 
Room A located on the 7th floor of the Manatee County Administration Building. 
 
 

 



CITIZENS OVERSIGHT
COMMITTEE

INFRASTRUCTURE SALES TAX
ADVISORY BOARD

08/15/24



Summary of 
Changes to 
Category 

Percentages 
as of 7/31/24

Report Page 7



Approval of 
Changes to 
Category 

Percentages 
and add a 

subcategory 
of Stormwater 
Improvements 

on 8/13/24



Summary of Funds Received and 
Expended as of 7/31/24

Report Page 8



Summary of Infrastructure Sales Tax 
Changes as of BOCC meeting 7/30/24

Report Page 9



Summary of Infrastructure Sales Tax Changes 
Continued 

Report Page 9 and 10



FY24 Amended as of 7/31/24

Report Page 11



FY25-29 Tentative IST

Report Page 12



FY24 Tentative IST

Report Page 12 and 13



FY25-29 Tentative IST

Report Page 13



NEXT INFRASTRUCTURE SALES TAX CITIZENS
OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEETING WILL BE

NOVEMBER 14, 2024

QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS?


	Approved ISTCOC Meeting Minutes 8.15.24.pdf
	Opening
	Board Attendees
	Committee Members in attendance:
	Andre-Rousseau Pegues – In Person
	Leland Taylor – In Person
	George Nicolopoulos – In Person
	Allen Morrell – In Person
	Committee Members in attendance virtually:
	Richard Hagenbach
	Committee Members not in attendance:
	Jack May
	Cynthia Warren
	Evan Pilachowski, Deputy County Administrator – In Person
	Victor Ortiz, Deputy Director, Financial Management – In Person
	Candi Cruz, Budget Division Manager - CIP, Financial Management – In Person
	Jessica Pollard – Senior Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management - In Person
	Rebekah Rafferty – Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management – Virtually
	Meghan Thorpe - Budget Analyst – CIP, Financial Management – Virtually
	Citizens from the public present:
	None
	Introduction
	Approval of Minutes
	Allen Morrell, Chairperson, asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the April 4, 2024, meeting. George Nicolopoulos made the motion to approve the meeting minutes which was then seconded by Andre-Rousseau Pegues. Unanimous by all – passes.
	Presentation of Summary of Funds, Changes and FY24-28 Tentative Budget
	Candi Cruz addressed the next meeting date recommendation of November 15, 2024. All members agreed upon the date.
	Public Comments
	None
	Action Items for Next Meeting:
	Adjournment

	8.15.24 Meeting Notes.pdf

